1989

# Verdon C. Brinkerhoff v. Fred C. Schwendiman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the failure of DLS to notify respondent personally in writing prior to the administrative adjudicative proceeding whether the proceeding was to be conducted formally or informally resulted in a denial of due process under Utah law and the Utah and United States Constitutions.

2. Whether the Order of Suspension issued to respondent by DLS failed to substantially comply with Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5(1)(i), so as to deny respondent due process of law under determinative constitutional provisions, statutes and rules.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment rendered by the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Richard H. Moffat, presiding.

The Third District Court judgment reinstated the driver's license of Verdon C. Brinkerhoff (Brinkerhoff) the respondent, following a decision by DLS in an informal adjudicative proceeding to suspend Brinkerhoff's driving privileges for 90 days for driving under the influence of



alcohol. In accordance with Utah Code Ann. §§ 41-2-130 and 41-2-131, and based upon sworn testimony and official documents, DLS and the District Court found that:

1. The arresting officer had reasonable grounds to believe that Brinkerhoff was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, in violation Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44 (T. 64).

2. Brinkerhoff consented to an intoxilizer test which measured his blood alcohol concentration at .10 grams in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44 (T. 64).

3. Neither the DUI Summons and Citation/Notice of Intent to Suspend or Revoke/Temporary Driver License, nor the notice of administrative hearing provided to Brinkerhoff prior to the DLS hearing, contained any language that would have informed him as to whether the administrative procedure was formal or informal in nature.

4. The order and decision served upon Brinkerhoff following the administrative adjudicative proceeding did not contain the reasons for decision as required by Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5(1)(i) & (ii), and that said order was conclusary and merely stated the language of the applicable statute.

5. Because of the failure of DLS to comply with the requirements of the Administrative Procedures Act in designating the hearing as formal or informal and failing to state in the order and decision the reasons therefore, respondent was denied due process and is entitled to the relief of reinstatement of his driving privilege.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On October 26, 1988, Sergeant Ferraro of the South Salt Lake City Police Department arrested respondent, Verdon C. Brinkerhoff, for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44. After Brinkerhoff was arrested, Officer Ferraro requested a blood alcohol concentration test and gave him the department's standard admonition explaining the possible consequences if the result of the test was .08 grams or greater (T. 12). Brinkerhoff consented and submitted to an intoxilizer test. The results indicated a blood alcohol concentration of .105 grams (T. 5-6).

After the intoxilizer test, Brinkerhoff was given a Miranda warning and was asked a few questions about his drinking. He was then personally served with a DUI Summons and Citation, Notice of Intent to Suspend and Temporary License which notified Brinkerhoff in writing of the intent of DLS to suspend his driver license for a period of 90 days, which suspension would begin 31 days from the date of the summons and citation. The summons also notified Brinkerhoff of his right to request a hearing before the Driver License Division to determine if his license should be suspended. (See Addendum A).

The record shows that Brinkerhoff timely requested a hearing before the Driver License Division concerning the propriety of the suspension of his license. Counsel for Brinkerhoff also requested discovery of all materials intended to be used by DLS at the administrative hearing. Those materials were provided by the Department, along with a notice of the time

set for hearing (See Addendum B). A hearing was given with testimony being taken, and all relevant documents and evidence were before the hearing examiner. (See Addendum C). The hearing examiner found the suspension appropriate. A record of the findings of fact and conclusions of the hearing officer were prepared, which record was made available to respondent upon request (See Addendum D).

At the beginning of the Administrative hearing, counsel for respondent asked the hearing officer, Brian Call, whether the hearing was being conducted as a formal or informal hearing. The hearing officer stated that it was an informal hearing and no further objection or motion was made at that time by respondent. (See Addendum C at 3). Only after the conclusion of the administrative hearing, did counsel for respondent state that the action should be dismissed on the grounds that DLS had not complied with the Administrative Procedures Act in that no notice had been given prior the hearing whether the hearing was to be conducted formally or informally. (See Addendum C at 25-26).

On November 25, 1988, DLS mailed Brinkerhoff an Order of Suspension (See Addendum E) indicating that the Brinkerhoff's license had been suspended for a period of three months effective November 25, 1988, and stating the reasons for the decision. The order also indicated that Brinkerhoff had the right to appeal the action of the department within 30 days in a court of record. On December 2, 1988, Brinkerhoff filed a Verified Petition for Judicial Review in the Third District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. In addition, Brinkerhoff also filed an ex

parte motion for stay of the Order of Suspension of DLS pending the outcome of the trial de novo in the District Court. The motion for stay of the Order of Suspension was granted by Judge Moffat on December 5, 1988, and Brinkerhoff's full driving privileges were reinstated during the pendency of the judicial review. (See Addendum F). Brinkerhoff was then given a trial de novo at the District Court level.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The DUI Citation, Notice of Intent to Suspend and Notice of Hearing provided to respondent prior to the administrative adjudicative hearing, gave respondent actual notice of DLS' intent to suspend his license for 90 days for driving under the influence of alcohol and notified him of his opportunity for a hearing prior to suspension. In addition, the promulgation and publication of administrative rules by DLS, indicating that its administrative hearings are conducted informally under UAPA, gave respondent constructive notice that his hearing was to be informal.

The Order of Suspension sent respondent pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5(1)(i) complied in all material respects with the statute by providing the decision, the reasons for the decision, notice of any right of administrative or judicial review and the time limits for requesting review. Formal findings of fact and conclusions were prepared by the hearing officer and made available to respondent upon request in writing. By failing to request the formal findings and conclusions from DLS, respondent should not now be allowed to claim he did not have access to them.

DLS complied with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act and its own administrative rules in the conduct of respondent's administrative hearing in all material respects. Pursuant to these procedures, respondent requested and received discovery of documents germane to the proceedings and appeared and fully participated in the hearing. Participation included the opportunity to present any relevant evidence and to cross-examine witnesses. By participating fully in the administrative process and failing to timely request that the proceeding be converted to a formal proceeding pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3), respondent should now be estopped from asserting his due process rights have been violated.

Procedural due process, under the Utah and United States Constitutions, require that a person be given reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard and present any claim or defense. Respondent was given notice and an opportunity to be heard at the administrative level. In addition, in an effort to cure any minor procedural deficiencies, respondent was given a trial de novo in the District Court in which he had a full opportunity to conduct discovery and present any claim or defense. The record fully supports the fact that respondent's due process rights were adequately safeguarded and the forms used by DLS in its hearing process were adequately clear to provide notice of the right to hearing and met due process requirements.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### DIVISION OF DRIVER LICENSE SERVICES SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLIED WITH THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT IN THE CONDUCT OF ITS ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING PROCESS.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3(1) provides that all adjudicative administrative proceedings shall be initiated by a notice of agency action if the proceedings are initiated by the agency. Subsection (2)(a)(v) further provides that notice of the agency action shall include "a statement of whether the adjudicative proceeding is to be conducted informally according to the provisions of rules adopted under §§ 63-46b-4 and 63-46b-5 or formally according to the provisions of §§ 63-46b-6 to 63-46b-11." In addition, Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5(1)(i) requires that after the close of an informal adjudicative proceeding, the presiding officer shall issue a signed order in writing that states the decision, the reasons for the decision, a notice of any right of administrative or judicial review available and time limits for filing an appeal or requesting review.

Failure to notify whether the hearing was formal or informal, and failure to put formal findings of fact and conclusions in the subsequent order are the only two areas in which Brinkerhoff asserts DLS failed to comply with the Administrative Procedures Act. The record supports that these are the reasons the District Court determined to reinstate Brinkerhoff's license (T. 65-66).

Section 63-46b-4 of the Administrative Procedures Act, allows an agency to designate by rule whether its adjudicative

proceedings are to be conducted informally or formally, according to the procedures established in the act. This section also provides that all agency adjudicative proceedings not designated as informal by the agency shall be conducted formally. DLS promulgated such rules through the rule-making process, held public hearings on the rules as required by law, and made them generally available to the public. The rules are published in the Utah Administrative Code to ensure easy public access and allow affected parties to ascertain the contents of the rules. The rule-making process and publication of rules are designed to communicate to the general public the standards by which the agency operates in its administrative hearings. Brinkerhoff had easy access to these rules and chose not to avail himself of them. (See Addendum G.)

Rule R712-017-3 of the Utah Driver License Division Rules for Administrative Proceedings defines hearing as "an informal adjudicative proceeding where evidence is to be taken to determine an issue of fact and adjudicate a prior legal right based on the division record, evidence, documents and information." (See Addendum G p. 1). In addition, Rule R712-017-6 (see Addendum G. p. 2) designates all adjudicative proceedings, except actions mandated by statute, as informal unless "converted to formal in the discretion of the presiding officer or supervisor." Utah Code Ann. § 63-466-4(3) also allows an administrative hearing to be converted from formal to informal or informal to formal. Such a conversion of a hearing under the statute would not negate the entire proceeding, even if a party

had been originally notified that the hearing was to be conducted in another manner. Obviously notice of whether the hearing was to be formal or informal, alone, is not determinative of whether the proceeding is fundamentally fair to the affected party.

The promulgation and publication of the administrative rules provided constructive notice of the informal nature of the adjudicative proceeding, and substantially complied with the clear intent of the statute. If respondent chose not to avail himself of the published rules of the Department, he should not now be able to assert that he had not received actual notice as to the informal nature of the proceeding. Respondent requested and received, prior to the hearing, all documents used by Driver License Services in the hearing. (See Addendum B.) If he was, in reality, unaware of the nature of the proceedings he needed merely ask the Department in his request for documents.

Following the conclusion of the administrative hearing, respondent received a signed Order of Suspension indicating the decision by the presiding officer of Driver License Services and the reasons for the decision. (See Addendum E). The reason for the decision was stated in the order as follows:

The grounds for such action is Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-130 and that a peace officer had reasonable grounds to believe you had been operating a motor vehicle in violation of U.C.A. § 41-6-44 (driving under the influence law).

The Administrative Procedures Act in § 63-46~~b~~<sup>5</sup>(1)(i) requires only four items be contained in the signed order. They are as follows: (1) the decision (see Addendum ~~E~~, para. 1), (2) the reasons for the decision (see Addendum ~~E~~, para. 3), (3) a notice



of any right of administrative or judicial review available to the parties (see Addendum E, para. 7), (4) the time limits for filing an appeal or requesting review (see Addendum E, para. 7). The signed order provided to Brinkerhoff contained each of the four items listed. Under the statute it need contain no more.

In the District Court proceedings, Judge Moffat determined that the Department's Order of Suspension did not comply with the Act in that it stated a legal conclusion of the statute rather than setting forth the factual basis of the decision. The Court indicated that this factual basis should be contained in the order that is mailed to the parties and failure to do so results in prejudicial error necessitating reinstatement of the driver's license (T. 66). The Court indicated that the parties are entitled under the statute to know what the facts were upon a decision was based (T. 66).

Appellant does not deny that a party to an administrative hearing is entitled to know the basis upon which the decision is reached. However, in driver license suspension hearings, the issue is so narrow as to be covered by the statement of the reason for decision in the order. The actual findings and conclusions of the hearing officer are made a part of the administrative record and are available upon request. Rule R712-017-9 (Addendum G) requires a presiding officer to make a written summary of relevant findings of fact and legal conclusions arrived at, along with a brief recommendation. The rule further indicates that these findings, conclusions and recommendations are to be transmitted to a superior for the

preparation of an order, such as was done in this case, and made available to the parties upon request in writing. (See R712-017-9(7) Addendum G). The benefit to a party in requiring DLS to mail a copy of this report following each hearing would be substantially outweighed by the additional time and cost involved. The mere fact that Brinkerhoff chose not to provide the Driver License Service with a written request for the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the hearing officer, should not permit him to maintain that he was unaware of this information. Nowhere in the statute is it required that the order itself contain these findings of fact and conclusions, but only that it contain the four items discussed, supra, pg. 9.

In discussing adjudicative procedure, Kenneth Culp Davis stated:

the closest approach to a unifying principle is that courts set aside the administrative choice only for clear illegality or for abuse of discretion; this principle is applied to many problems, including pleadings, intervention, place and time of hearings, delay, consolidation of proceedings, degree of formality and informality, order of proceedings and off the record discussions.

See Davis, Administrative Law Text, (3d ed. 1972 pg. 212) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, there has been no "clear illegality" or "abuse of discretion". The DUI Citation and Notice of Intent to Suspend (Addendum A) accompanied with the notice of hearing (Addendum B p. 3), gave Brinkerhoff notice of Driver License Services' intention to suspend his license for 90 days and notified him of his opportunity for a hearing prior to

the suspension. The promulgation of administrative rules by DLS also gave Brinkerhoff constructive notice of the informal nature of the proceedings. See Smith v. Mahoney, 590 P.2d 323 (1979).

## POINT II

BY FAILING TO TIMELY OBJECT TO THE INFORMAL NATURE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT SHOULD NOW BE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THAT THE INFORMAL PROCEEDINGS DENIED HIM PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3) provides that any time before a final order is issued in an adjudicative proceeding, the presiding officer may convert an informal proceeding to a formal proceeding, if such a conversion would be in the public interest and not unfairly prejudice the rights of any party. The record of the administrative adjudicative hearing clearly indicates that counsel for respondent questioned the hearing examiner at the beginning of the hearing as to whether the proceeding was being conducted formally or informally. (See Addendum C p. 3). Upon being notified that the proceeding was informal, the hearing proceeded with no further objections. Respondent was able to cross-examine witnesses of the department, call his own witnesses and present any evidence he felt germane to the proceeding.

In closing argument at the administrative hearing, respondent's counsel stated, "... this per se action should be dismissed on the grounds that the division has not complied with the Administrative Procedures Act in the following respects. First of all, the first time we received notice that this was a formal or informal hearing was when Mr. Call himself indicated that this was an informal hearing." Respondent however, made no

indication of how he was prejudiced from this failure of notice or in any way denied an opportunity to discover any relevant information or to appear and be fully heard. (See Addendum C pgs. 25-26). Had Brinkerhoff been in any way prejudiced by the informal nature of the hearing, counsel should have requested the hearing officer to allow the proceeding to be converted to a formal hearing as allowed pursuant to § 63-46b-4. Respondent, as a result of his own inaction, should now be estopped from claiming he was prejudiced by the proceeding in which he fully participated.

The Supreme Court of Utah has recognized that a driver's license is a privilege and not a fundamental right. Smith v. Mahoney, 590 P.2d 323 (1979). Although the privilege is constitutionally protected, due process under the fifth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution and under Utah Const. art. I, § 7 only require that a person be given notice of intention to terminate the license and an opportunity for hearing prior to termination. Smith at 324, 325. The forms used by DLS in the instant case were adequate to give notice of an intent, to suspend and of the right to a hearing. By appearing and fully participating Brinkerhoff obviously had notice of the hearing and an opportunity to be heard prior to his license being terminated. Such participation should now preclude respondent from asserting his due process rights were somehow violated. Counsel for Brinkerhoff had a duty to request the hearing be conducted formally at the outset.

DLS has also been informed and believes that counsel for respondent had actual notice of the informal nature of the proceedings. Respondent's counsel has appeared at other driver license suspension hearings which have also been conducted on an informal basis. Counsel's actual notice of the nature of the proceedings from prior hearings should not allow him to now claim DLS failed to notify him of the informal nature of this proceeding.

### POINT III

THE JURISDICTION OF THE DISTRICT COURT TO REVIEW BY TRIAL DE NOVO THE FINAL ORDER OF THE DIVISION OF DRIVER LICENSE SERVICES GUARANTEES RESPONDENT REASONABLE NOTICE, OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD AND TO PRESENT ANY CLAIM OR DEFENSE RELATIVE TO THE PROCEEDING.

Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-131 allows a person whose license has been suspended or revoked by the Division to seek judicial review of DLS's final order. The Administrative Procedures Act in § 63-46b-15(1)(a) states that "the district court shall have jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all final agency actions resulting from any informal adjudicative proceedings." DLS's adjudicative proceedings are informal as provided by Administrative Rule R712-017-6. Finally, Utah Code Ann. § 78-3-4(5) provides that the district court has jurisdiction to review agency adjudicative proceedings as set forth in chapter 46b, title 63, "and shall comply with the requirements of that chapter in its review of agency adjudicative proceedings." This includes the requirement that the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Utah Rules of Evidence be applied.

The Utah Code, prior to the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA), provided no uniform procedures for agency adjudication and judicial review. Some agency decisions were reviewed "on the record" by an appellate court but with various standards of review, other agencies were made subject to "on the record" review by trial courts and still other agencies received de novo review in a trial court. With the adoption of UAPA in 1987, and numerous amendments enacted in 1988, an attempt was made to resolve these disparities. In the overview of UAPA written by Allen D. Sullivan, Vice-Chairman of the Advisory Committee, the statement is made that one of the purposes of the act was to give a "uniform and rational framework for judicial review of agency action." (See Addendum H).

UAPA reflects two principles for the development of a uniform system for judicial review of agency action. First, agencies that devote sufficient formality, due process protection and record building into an administrative adjudication should be entitled to deference as to the factual record and findings by a reviewing court. An agency that processes a large number of cases, on the other hand, at more informal levels of procedure with a lower level of due process protection, should be reviewed de novo for the protection of the affected party. The number of hearings DLS is required to conduct are too numerous to allow a formal hearing at the agency level on each one. Therefore, judicial review de novo by the District Court assures the affected party a fair opportunity to present evidence and be heard.

The Utah Administrative Advisory Committee, responsible for drafting the 1988 amendments to UAPA, indicated that the term de novo, as used in § 63-46b-15, was to be given its standard legal definition. The committee stated in the Comments on the Drafting and Interpretation of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act as follows:

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