1989

Verdon C. Brinkerhoff v. Fred C. Schwendiman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Driver contends that DLS failed to comply with the requirements of UAPA in the two regards stated above. After evidentiary hearing and review, the trial court agreed, and the brief of DLS does not cite any evidence to the contrary. As a result of this non-compliance with UAPA, the agency decision must be set aside for its failure to afford the Driver due process of law in the determination of his driving privilege.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT
REQUIRES DLS TO SERVE A WRITTEN NOTICE
WHICH CONTAINS A STATEMENT AS TO WHETHER
ADJUDICATIVE PROCEEDINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED
FORMALLY OR INFORMALLY

The enactment of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA) in 1987 provided state agencies and the public with a comprehensive framework for initiating, conducting, and appealing from adjudicative administrative proceedings that determine a person's legal rights, duties, privileges, and licenses. See Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-1(1), et seq. Section §63-46b-4(1) allows

State agencies to designate either formal or informal proceedings for the various actions these agencies undertake.

The administrative action in this case is a 90-day "per se" driving suspension provided by Utah Code Ann. §41-2-128. DLS has asserted, for the first time at the administrative hearing, and again at trial de novo, that such action is an informal proceeding, as so designated in the rules of that agency.

Under UAPA, an administrative action such as the instant one may be commenced by the filing and service of a written notice of agency action which "shall include" basic information about the proceeding. In addition to the name and address of persons receiving notice, the file number, the name of the action, and the date mailed, the notice must also include a statement of whether the adjudicative proceeding is to be conducted formally or informally. Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-3, reproduced in part in Addendum A.

The wisdom of the provisions of UAPA which require the agency to state whether proceedings are formal or informal is apparent from a review of the Act's bifurcated treatment of these two types of administrative actions. The applicability of responsive pleadings, discovery, subpoenas, admissibility of evidence, hearing procedure, intervention, and the form of judicial review are all factors wholly dependent upon whether a proceeding is formal or informal. In order to prepare one's position in advance of the hearing, it is elemental that a party to an adjudicative administrative proceeding know what rules are at play, what the scope and function of the hearing are, and what level of judicial review is available. Only then can a party be

said to have been afforded the procedural integrity and due process of law that UAPA obviously intended to insure.

The sound and clear language of UAPA requires that the notice of agency action contain a statement as to whether the proceedings are to be conducted formally or informally. Absent such language, further proceedings would not only run afoul of the provisions of UAPA, but would deny parties to administrative proceedings fundamental notice as to the nature of those proceedings, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, and Constitution of Utah, Article I, Section 7.

POINT II

THE UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT
REQUIRES DLS TO ISSUE AND MAIL TO EACH
PARTY A WRITTEN ORDER CONTAINING
THE DECISION, REASONS THEREFOR, AND
THE RIGHT TO AND TIME FOR APPEAL

The UAPA requires the officer presiding over informal adjudicative proceedings to issue a signed written order within a reasonable time. Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-5(1)(i), reproduced in Addendum B. Such an order is to be based upon the evidence introduced in the action, and must be promptly mailed to all parties. The language of the Act requires that the order state: a) the decision; b) the reasons for the decision; c) a notice of any right of review; and d) the time limits for filing an appeal or requesting a review.

The policy considerations behind this requirement again

appear to be of a fundamental nature. Not only should a party whose rights or privileges are adjudicated know what the agency's final determination is, but the reasons that the agency made such a decision. Only by knowing the basis or bases of the decision can the party decide what issues are in dispute, whether there are singular or multiple grounds of purported justification for the decision, whether review is appropriate, and, if so, whether review should be requested administratively or judicially.

The requirement of the UAPA that the reasons for the decision be stated in the order facilitates a meaningful understanding of the decision and the options available after the decision has been rendered at that level. Such an understanding is crucial to a party's evaluation as to how to proceed and upon what basis. This requirement further serves to focus the review tribunal's attention on those issues truly in contention, and provides the context for meaningful review of the proceedings below.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING THAT DLS
FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE UTAH
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT, BOTH IN
INITIATING PROCEEDINGS AND RENDERING
A DECISION, ENJOYS SUBSTANTIAL SUPPORT
IN THE RECORD BELOW

At the outset, it should be noted that UAPA provides for de novo District Court review of decisions rendered in informal adjudicative administrative proceedings. The District Court, without a jury, determines all questions of fact and law

as well as any constitutional issues presented. At this level, the pleadings and proceedings are governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the Utah Rules of Evidence. See Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-15, reproduced in Addendum C.

The District Court's role in a de novo review is analogous to that in the bench trial of a civil matter (the pleadings are, in fact, captioned as in a civil matter, and the "trial" is conducted in that fashion). As such, the standard of review adopted by this Court on appeal from the District Court's decision should be that normally applied in reviewing civil bench trials.

On appeal of a judgment from the bench after trial, appellate courts defer to the trial court's factual assessments unless there is clear error. Copper State Leasing vs. Blacker Appliance & Furniture, 90 U.A.R. 23 at 26 (Utah, 1988), U.R.Civ.P. 52(a). To be clearly erroneous, a finding must be shown by the appellant to be against the clear weight of evidence or that it induces a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. Maughan vs. Maughan, 102 U.A.R. 44 (Utah Ct. App., 1989). If there is a reasonable basis in the evidence, the trial court's findings will be affirmed on appeal. Gillmor vs. Gillmor, 745 P.2d 461 (Utah Ct. App., 1987).

Appellant apparently contests the trial court's finding that DLS failed to comply with the plain requirements of the UAPA in two separate and distinct respects: sufficiency of the notice of action and sufficiency of the order of decision. It is the appellant's burden to cite the appellate court to all the evidence in the record that would demonstrate why, even when

viewed in the light most favorable to the court below, it is insufficient to support the finding under attack. Harker vs. Condominiums Forest Glen, Inc., 740 P.2d 1361 (Utah Ct. App., 1987). In its brief, appellant has failed to marshal any evidence in support of the trial court's findings.

As to the issue of sufficiency of the notice of action, neither the DUI Summons and Citation/Notice of Intent to Suspend or Revoke served on the Driver (Addendum D) nor the notice of hearing mailed to him (Addendum E) contain any language designating the proceedings as formal or informal. Nowhere in Appellant's brief is this assertion controverted. The record below shows not only substantial support of the trial court's finding of non-compliance by DLS, but rather compels such a finding given the absence of any evidence to the contrary.

Given the failure of DLS to comply with the notice provisions of the UAPA, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the Order of Suspension issued by that agency, a remedy which the Act expressly authorizes. See Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-17(1)(b)(iii).

Likewise, the trial court was compelled to find non-compliance by DLS in regard to stating reasons for its decision in the order mailed to the Driver. While DLS argues here, as below, that reasons for the decision are stated on the Order of Suspension (Addendum F), inspection of that document negates such an assertion. DLS cites only the conclusional third paragraph in support of its position, which in essence restates the very statute to which it alludes. Given the two different typesets on the document, it is apparent that the order is a

form letter used in this kind of proceeding. Nowhere is the Driver apprised of the factual findings or bases for the decision, which arguments were considered, accepted, rejected, or determinative, what blood alcohol level was found to be present, or any other relevant factor. In short, the order provides the Driver with no further information about how the decision was reached, other than that his license has been suspended as a result of his arrest for DUI. This general and conclusional proposition is one of which the Driver is already well aware.

Given the additional failure of DLS to comply with the decisional requirements of the UAPA, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the Order of Suspension issued by that agency, on this independent basis as well.

Point II of DLS' brief asserts that the Driver's alleged failure "to timely object to the informal nature of the administrative proceedings" invokes some form of estoppel, and should now preclude consideration of issues raised, reached, and decided by the trial court. This analysis is flawed in the following three regards.

First, the Driver has never objected to the proceedings being informal, but rather has asserted that he was entitled to written notice as to whether the proceedings would be formal or informal.

Second, the transcript of the administrative hearing (reproduced at Appellant's Brief, Addendum C), at page 24 and 25, reveals that the Driver's counsel specifically moved the hearing officer for a dismissal of the administrative action due to DLS' failure to designate either formal or informal proceedings. This

assertion, together with separate ground of non-compliance with UAPA in respect to the content of the order rendered, were fully raised and argued before the District Court, as is apparent from the Petition for Review, the evidence introduced, closing argument, and the findings of fact made by the trial court. Failure to timely object was not raised in the District Court by DLS.

Third, in the District Court, and again on appeal in Point III of its brief, DLS argued that since review by that Court was de novo, defects in the proceedings below can be cured at the District Court level. Assuming arguendo that the Driver failed to raise the issue to the hearing officer, this assertion is flawed and results in disparate treatment. With this statement, DLS assumes the untenable and blatantly unfair position that the agency can take two bites at the apple to remedy an omission, while the driver is stuck with whatever omissions occur at the agency level. Such a proposition makes a mockery of notions of fundamental fairness between parties to an administrative proceeding.

POINT IV

DLS IMPROPERLY URGES CONSIDERATION OF MATTERS NOT INTRODUCED OR RAISED BELOW

Appellant's Brief references various materials that are not part of the record on appeal. Such matters may not ordinarily be considered for the first time in the appellate court. Mel Trimble Real Estate vs. Monte Vista Ranch, Inc., 758

P.2d 451, 455-56 (Utah Ct. App., 1988). This is true even if the matters brought forth are of a nature that can be taken by judicial notice.

Several items appended to Appellant's Brief were not presented below, though most are of questionable value in the resolution of this appeal. These include the Driver's request for hearing (Appellant's Addendum B), the agency's Findings of Proceedings (Appellant's Addendum D), the reinstatement of the Driver's privileges, found in Appellant's Addendum F, DLS Rules and Regulations (Appellant's Addendum G), and the Comments of the Utah Administrative Law Advisory Committee found in Appellant's Addendum H.

DLS now claims that these materials, which were not before the trial court, lend credence to its position. While it is unclear how any of these materials vitiate the express requirements of the UAPA, it is simply too late in the day to present them for consideration for the first time. DLS had its opportunity to present them to the trial court, but failed to do so. Matters not presented for consideration of the trial court should be deemed waived for purposes of this appeal.

POINT V

A SUGGESTION OF MOOTNESS AS TO POINT I,
SUPRA, ARISES DUE TO DLS' RECENT
INCLUSION OF LANGUAGE IN NOTICES
INITIATING THIS TYPE OF PROCEEDING

After the de novo review of this matter, DLS began using a different form for the notices of hearing in actions such

as this. Counsel for the Driver, in an unrelated case, received such a form and has submitted the same for this Court's consideration as to potential mootness of Point I, supra. The new form, with case-specific data omitted, is reproduced in Addendum G.

With the inclusion of the language that an "informal hearing" (underlining original) will be held in the action, the instant concern of the Driver about sufficiency of the notice appears to have application only to this case and others appealed before the change was made, if any. Little or no prospective relief from this deficiency will be required as a result. As a practical matter, DLS has remedied one of the two points of non-compliance which were the bases of the District Court's ruling.

While the Driver does not necessarily contend that this factor is dispositive of the appeal, and therefore does not move for a dismissal for mootness, counsel is aware of his duty under R. Utah Ct. App. 37(a), and merely seeks to advise the Court as to factors it may deem relevant to possible issues of mootness. These circumstances also bear on the issue of whether the conduct of DLS after the de novo trial constitutes an implied confession of manifest error at the agency level.

CONCLUSION

The UAPA sets forth specific requirements for initiating and rendering decisions in informal adjudicative proceedings. In this instant case, the evidence before the trial court was undisputed that DLS did not in fact comply. Since the

Driver was not afforded the due process envisioned in the UAPA, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the agency's order, and accordingly the judgment of the District Court should be affirmed.